

Oaklands Road Haywards Heath West Sussex RH16 1SS Switchboard: 01444 458166

DX 300320 Haywards Heath 1 www.midsussex.gov.uk

24 May 2018.

Dear Councillor,

A meeting of the **CABINET** will be held in the **Council Chamber** at these offices on **MONDAY**, 4 JUNE 2018 at 4.00 p.m., when your attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely,

KATHRYN HALL

Chief Executive

AGENDA

1.	To receive Declarations of Interest from Members in respect of any matter on the Agenda.	Page No.
2.	To receive apologies for absence.	
3.	To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 8 May 2018.	3 - 5
4.	To consider any items that the Leader agrees to take as urgent business.	
5.	Disposal of Surplus Council Land at Bolnore Road Depot.	6 - 10
6.	To consider whether to exclude the Press and Public from the meeting during consideration of the following items in accordance with Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act.	
7.	Disposal of Surplus Council Land at Bolnore Road Depot - Exempt Appendix 2	11 - 14

To: **Members of the Cabinet** – Councillors: Ash-Edwards (Deputy Leader), Llewellyn-Burke, MacNaughton, Marsh, Thomas-Atkin, Wall (Leader) and Webster.

Working together for a better Mid Sussex



Minutes of the Meeting of the Mid Sussex District Council Cabinet held on 8 May 2018 from 5.30 p.m. to 5.51 p.m.

- **Present**: Councillors: Jonathan Ash-Edwards, Andrew MacNaughton, Gary Marsh, Garry Wall (Leader), Mandy Thomas-Atkin and Norman Webster.
- Also present: Councillors: Peter Wyan, Edward Matthews, Norman Mockford, Rod Clarke, Dick Sweatman, Jacqui Landriani, Colin Holden, Pete Bradbury, Michelle Binks, Judy Llewellyn-Burke, Sandy Ellis, Anne Boutrup and John Wilkinson.
- **Officers:** Kathryn Hall, Judy Holmes, Tom Clark, Peter Stuart, Simon Hughes, Terry Stanley and Hamish Evans.

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None.

2. APOLOGIES

None.

3. MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 19 March 2018 were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Leader.

4. URGENT BUSINESS

None.

5. OUTTURN 2017/18.

Peter Stuart the Head of Corporate Resources, introduced the report which informed Members of the outturn position for the 2017/18 revenue and capital budgets. He confirmed that at Cabinet on 19 February 2018 a projected net overspend of £14,000 had been forecast. Following closedown, the year-end position for 2017/18 now shows a net underspend of £418,000 before allowing for approved transfers to Reserves. This year-end underspend is due to the over performance on income this year, together with some salary savings and a saving generated by creating the Hurst Farm Specific Reserve which had been agreed at the meeting in February.

Peter Stuart stated that the underspend provided an opportunity to earmark funds for specific purposes: Community Safety, Asset Management and the Job Evaluation and Voluntary Redundancy Reserves.

He added that both Treasury Management and investment in the Local Authorities' Property Fund had performed well in the year with returns in excess of budget.

He stated that the Council's reserves position had continued to improve and therefore the Council was now in a position to earmark some funds for some major projects which Members had indicated should be brought forward; these were detailed on pages 10 and 11. Finally, the Head of Corporate Resources highlighted the table on page 19 which showed positive performance on housing benefit subsidy.

The Leader noted that the investments made by the Council have been prudent and generated good returns. He thanked the Officers for their hard work. He did acknowledge that there would be challenging times ahead.

The Cabinet Member for Community was pleased to see that Mid Sussex Partnership had been fully funded and successfully delivered its programmes while retaining the £50,000 reserve by year end. He also noted the worthwhile schemes that the Council had invested in through the Capital Programme.

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning discussed temporary accommodation. He was pleased to see that Officers had sought external advice and are developing a business case for improving the Council's options in terms of housing homeless individuals and families. He agreed with the recommendation that £4m should be earmarked to help support this work.

The Cabinet Member for Customer Services commented that she was pleased that the two apprentices had become full time employees of the Council and that the Council had plans to recruit more. She noted that the cost of solar panels on top of the Oaklands office was £28,000 instead of the budgeted £62,000 and that they reinforced the Council's commitment to sustainability.

The Cabinet Member for Service Delivery said that the Council's investment in worthwhile schemes showed that the Council's priorities were to benefit the District as a whole.

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Resources and Economic Growth thanked the Finance team for their hard work. He highlighted that negative RSG would be a significant challenge facing the Council in the future. He reminded colleagues that earmarking funding to specific reserves does not at this stage, commit the monies to detailed proposals but it represents good governance and prudent financial planning.

The Leader then moved to the recommendations which were agreed unanimously.

RESOLVED

Cabinet recommend to Council:

- i. That grant income as set out in paragraph 15-17 of this report be transferred to Specific Reserve;
- ii. that grant income as set out in paragraph 18-19 of this report be transferred to General Reserve;
- iii. that balance of interest totalling £344,000 as set out in paragraph 23 is transferred to the General Reserve;
- iv. that Dividend income totalling £29,590 as set out in paragraph 26 is transferred to the General Reserve;
- v. that the 2018/19 capital programme be increased by £2,045,000 as a result of slippage of some 2017/18 capital projects as detailed in Table 3.
- vi. that the revenue underspending in 2017/18 be transferred to Reserves as follows:

a) £50,000 be transferred to Reserves as set out in Table 1;

- b) £300,000 be transferred to Specific Reserves as set out in Table 2;
- c) £6,000 balance to be transferred to General Reserve

- vii. that £13m be transferred from General Reserve to Specific Reserve as set out in para 27-35 of this report;
- viii. that £15,229 be transferred to General Reserve as detailed in Appendix C General Reserve Table note 5.

Chairman.

5. DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS COUNCIL LAND AT BOLNORE ROAD DEPOT

REPORT OF: Contact Officer:	Head of Corporate Resources Thuso Selelo, Business Unit Leader, Corporate Estates & Facilities
	Email: thuso.selelo@midsussex.gov.uk Tel: 01444 477425
Wards Affected:	All
Key Decision:	Yes
Report to:	Cabinet
	4 th June 2018

Purpose of Report

- 1. The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the outcome of the Head of Corporate Resources' investigation into the development potential of a parcel of Council land at Bolnore Road, Haywards Heath, shown edged in red on the plan at Appendix I to this report ("the Site"), which until recently was used as a Council depot.
- 2. It sets out proposals for residential development of the Site, asks Cabinet to declare the Site surplus to existing operational requirements and needs, and seeks authority for the Head of Corporate Resources to dispose of the Site to Bidder A on the terms set out in the exempt Appendix 2 to this report in order to generate a capital receipt for the Council and homes in a sustainable location with 50% of those being affordable homes.

Recommendation

- 3. Cabinet is recommended to:
 - (a) Declare the parcel of Council land at Bolnore Road, Haywards Heath shown edged in red on the plan at Appendix I to this report ("the Site") surplus to existing operational requirements and needs;
 - (b) Approve the disposal of the Site to Bidder A for residential development, subject to the grant of satisfactory planning permission, in accordance with the terms set out in the Exempt Appendix 2; and
 - (c) Authorise the Head of Corporate Resources and the Head Regulatory Services to enter into a contract, conditional upon the grant of satisfactory full planning permission for residential development of fifty per cent affordable homes and fifty per cent commercial homes, for the disposal of the Council's freehold interest in the Site to Bidder A on the main terms and conditions set out in the Exempt Appendix 2; and on such other terms and conditions as the Head of Regulatory Services recommends to protect the Council's position.

Background

4. The Council's predecessor the Urban District Council of Cuckfield acquired the Site, together with other land from the trustees of the community of the Holy Cross Convent Haywards Heath on 22nd August 1967 for use as a horticultural nursery site, but by the mid 1970's the site had ceased to be used for horticultural activities and was utilised as an informal depot. On 7th September 2000 the Council and the sisters of the Holy Cross Convent, Haywards Heath entered into a Deed of Release of Covenants. Various covenants restricting the use of the Site and the erection of buildings on the Site were released in so far as and for the purposes of the Council fulfilling its statutory duties as a local authority.

- 5. On 27th March 2018 the Cabinet Member for Resources and Economic Growth considered a report on the potential disposal of potentially surplus Council land, which proposed that various sites mentioned in the report should be investigated, to establish their current use and importance to the Council with a view to identifying those that are surplus to current operational needs and have development potential. The objective being to bring such sites forward for development either by the Council or others. The Cabinet Member was recommended to:
 - (a) agree, in principle, to the disposal of the various sites listed in the Appendix of the report that are potentially surplus to existing operational requirements and needs and have development potential; and
 - (b) authorise the Head of Corporate Resources to investigate the status of each parcel of land and to test the market to allow officers to bring forward and report back to Cabinet or Cabinet Member for Resources and Economic Growth, site-specific proposals for the disposal and/or development of those parcels of land that are considered surplus to existing operational requirements and needs and have development potential.
- 6. The Cabinet Member for Resources and Economic Growth approved the recommendation.
- 7. The Site, which was an operational depot before being decommissioned a few years back, is now used as an ad-hoc storage facility by various Council departments. A review of the asset has demonstrated that this Site is an underused site that is no longer required for the operational functions of the Council and is, in effect, surplus to the Council and with development potential as a brownfield development site.
- 8. The site is flat and surrounded by a thick vegetation of trees on land lying on the cul-desac at Bolnore Road, and adjacent to Beech Hurst Park and extends to an area of 0.49 ha (1.21 acres).
- 9. The Site is identified in the Council's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and allocated in the Haywards Heath Neighbourhood Plan as suitable for residential development.

Proposed Disposal

- 10. Officers have explored a number of disposal options in order to expose the Site to the best market and suitable purchasers. An agent was appointed to assist the Council with the marketing process and the negotiation of suitable terms with potential purchasers, to ensure that the disposal complies with the Council's statutory duty to secure the best consideration that can be reasonably obtained.
- 11. The proposed disposal will be subject to Bidder A obtaining satisfactory planning permission for a development of 18 residential units comprising 9 affordable homes and 9 private commercial market homes.

Policy Context

12. Local authorities like other public bodies are encouraged by the Government to keep their land holdings under review to ensure that it is not underutilised and it is Government policy that local authorities and other public bodies should dispose of surplus land wherever possible for development including for the provision of new homes.

- 13. Making the land available in this way directly assists the Council in its ambition to bring forward housing in the District.
- 14. Delivering affordable homes in the District feeds into the Council's policy objectives of better lives in the District.
- 15. Officers have taken account of the pressing need to increase the supply of affordable housing within the district, and specifically, within the area of Haywards Heath. Housing Services has advised that there are currently 1,250 households on the housing register for Mid Sussex and 381 of those households have indicated a preference to be housed in Haywards Heath. The need is broken down into 193 needing one bed homes, 158 needing 2 bed homes, 26 needing 3 bed homes and 4 needing 4 bed homes.
- 16. On this basis therefore, Cabinet is asked to endorse the approach that this site should contribute a greater proportion of affordable housing than the Council's policy (at 30%) would otherwise provide. This translates into three extra units on this site.

Powers and Legal Advice

- 17. Local authorities are given powers under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 Act (the 1972 Act) to dispose of land in any manner they wish, including sale of their freehold interest, granting a lease or assigning any unexpired term on a lease, and the granting of easements. The only constraint is that a disposal must be for the best consideration reasonably obtainable (except in the case of short tenancies of less than 7 years), unless the Secretary of State consents to the disposal.
- 18. Paragraph 6 of Circular 06/03 Local Government Act 1972 General Disposal Consent (England) 2003 confirms that it is Government policy that local authorities and other public bodies should dispose of surplus land wherever possible. Generally it is expected that land should be sold for the best consideration reasonably obtainable. However, it is recognised that there may be circumstances where an authority considers it appropriate to dispose of land at an undervalue. Authorities should clearly not divest themselves of valuable public assets unless they are satisfied that the circumstances warrant such action. The Consent has been issued to give local authorities autonomy to carry out their statutory duties and functions, and to fulfil such other objectives as they consider to be necessary or desirable. However, when disposing of land at an undervalue, authorities must remain aware of the need to fulfil their fiduciary duty in a way which is accountable to local people. In this regards the courts have held that the councillors have the same responsibilities and duty of care as trustees.
- 19. The Consent effectively removes the requirement for authorities to seek specific consent from the Secretary of State for any disposal of land, where the authority considers it will help it to secure the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of its area and the difference between the unrestricted value of the interest to be disposed of and the consideration accepted ("the undervalue") is £2m or less.
- 20. In determining whether or not to dispose of land for less than the best consideration reasonably obtainable, and whether or not any specific proposal to take such action falls within the terms of the Consent, the authority should ensure that it complies with normal and prudent commercial practices, including obtaining the view of a professionally qualified valuer as to the likely amount of the undervalue.

- 21. The provision of 50% of affordable homes within the proposed development scheme exceeds the local planning authority's requirement for 30% affordable homes and while the creation of affordable homes stands to be disregarded for the purposes of determining the commercial and monetary value of the Site, the provision of 50% affordable homes effectively unlocks the Site for housing development as a whole in line with Central Government Policy.
- 22. It has been necessary to undertake a valuation exercise to establish the impact on the value of the Site of imposing a condition that the development comprises 50% affordable homes against a valuation of the Site for a policy compliant development. The provision of affordable homes meets the first requirement of the General Disposal Consent and therefore, if the difference between the market value of the Site for a policy compliant development and the proposed scheme is less than £2m, the Council can rely on the General Consent and sell the land at the price stated in the Exempt Appendix 2 to this report. This appendix sets out the offers for the land for both schemes and it can be clearly seen that the difference in values is below that £2m threshold.

Other Options Considered

- 23. The alternatives are to:
- (a) Do nothing and retain the site for their existing use, whilst bearing the cost of maintenance and the liability that arises with routine maintenance and security. The Council would forgo an opportunity to generate a capital receipt that could be invested in the delivery of services or income generating assets that could be used to deliver services.
- (b) Consider retaining the site and developing for the delivery of Council services. No such use has been identified.

Financial Implications

- 24. The disposal will generate a capital receipt for the Council without impacting current revenues.
- 25. The costs associated with marketing, legal and other costs would need to be met from existing budgets but ultimately recovered from the capital receipt from site disposal, including an agents' fee of 2% of the sale price.

Risk Management Implications

26. The risk management implications of this report are detailed elsewhere in this report and in the Potential Disposal of Potentially Surplus Council Land report to the report to the Cabinet Member for Resources and Economic Development considered on 27th March 2018.

Equalities statement

27. It is not expected that any protected groups would be affected by this decision as the Site is not subject to public use. However, any planning application would consider these and other factors in the usual way.

Background Papers

28. Potential Disposal of Potentially Surplus Council Land, Report to Cabinet Member for Resources and Economic Growth, 19 March 2018

Appendix 1- Location Plan

